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THE TENSIONS, THE 
FRIENDSHIPS, THE 
PETTY ANNOYANCES, 
THE GRANDIOSE 
ARISTOCRATIC 
OWNERS AND THEIR 
GENTLEMEN LAND 
AGENTS OFFER US 
A PICTURE OF AN 
OLDER SOCIETY 
WHICH WAS STILL 
FIRMLY IN PLACE IN 
LAXTON WHEN THE 
FIRST WORLD WAR 
BROKE OUT IN 1914
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FOREWORD 

BY PROFESSOR JOHN BECKETT, 
UNIVERSITY OF NOTTINGHAM

The three additional ‘Snapshot in Time’ booklets 
are a welcome addition to the history of the village. 
Each of them in its own way provides an interesting 
story of life in the village in the first two decades of 
the twentieth century. Life in the village, as described 
in the first of the three, is as we might expect: difficult 
people, nice people, babies, marriages, burials, and 
the daily round of life, particularly when it came to the 
farmers and their field work. 

The tensions, the friendships, the petty 
annoyances, the grandiose  aristocratic owners (who 
generally kept themselves to themselves at Thoresby 
Hall) and their gentlemen land agents (who frequently 
visited the village to let the tenant farmers know 
exactly where they stood) offer us a picture of an 
older society which was still firmly in place in Laxton 
when the First World War broke out in 1914. 

It was a hierarchical society, with the vicar, living 
in one of the largest houses in the village, keeping a 
careful eye on the local people, their families, friends, 
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6 A Snapshot In Time | Village Buildings

alliances, and fallings out. The 
church, as we learn in the 
second of the three booklets, 
was the most important 
individual building in the 
community, built of stone in the 
13th century and largely rebuilt 
using much of the old stone in 
1860. 

But other buildings were 
part of the fabric of village life, 
among them the farmhouses 
strung out along the main street, 
the village shop, the post office, 
the nonconformist chapel 
and, of course, the Dovecote 
Inn. Not much disturbed the 

community, at least before the war, which had far 
more animals than modern Laxton, and was a much 
quieter place – not that it is particularly noisy today 
– in the days when horses rather than tractors were 
the main motive power across the community, and 
people walked rather than speeding (often literally) 
through the village in cars, vans, and occasionally 
motor bikes. 

Life was full of variety, as the third booklet showed, 
although some variety, particularly when it came to ill 
health, was less welcome than other. Everyone knew their 
place, or at least they knew where they were expected 
to be in the social hierarchy. The vicar wrote letters on 
embossed note paper, while the tenants scribbled away 
on whatever quality they could find, sometimes sending 
anonymous messages to their landlord for fear of what 
the Thoresby Estate might do if it knew who the writer 
was. Telephones were still virtually unknown but the 
post was collected and delivered regularly throughout 
each day. Ploughing competitions were frequent events. 

THE CHURCH, AS 
WE LEARN IN THE 
SECOND OF THE 
THREE BOOKLETS, 
WAS THE MOST 
IMPORTANT 
INDIVIDUAL 
BUILDING IN THE 
COMMUNITY
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A Snapshot In Time | Laxton History Group 7

Occasionally the village had to cope with poor 
behaviour, but special constables were in post for the 
duration of the war and both received long service 
awards subsequently. Finally, Laxton did its bit for the 
war, including taking in a Belgium refugee family, and 
of course the farmers had to do as they were told by 
the War Agricultural Committee. 

Life was not idyllic: mysterious illnesses with no 
NHS, and the poverty of some local families, ensured 
that it was tough, but few English villages have been 
documented as thoroughly as Laxton, and these three 
booklets, added to the originals, paint an unusually 
detailed picture of a remarkable village over the first 
two decades of the twentieth century. 

All the researchers and writers were local 
volunteers, mostly with little experience of historical 
research, and it is a measure of their commitment 
and, dare I say it, previously hidden talent that Laxton 
has been so carefully and accurately detailed via the 
three new booklets to add to the four originals.

FEW ENGLISH VILLAGES HAVE 
BEEN DOCUMENTED AS 
THOROUGHLY AS LAXTON, AND 
THESE BOOKLETS, PAINT AN 
UNUSUALLY DETAILED PICTURE 
OF A REMARKABLE VILLAGE
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8 A Snapshot In Time | Village Buildings

PREFACE
Members of Laxton History Group set out to 

research a ‘snapshot’ of the village during the period 
1900 – 1920. The project, funded by the Heritage 
Lottery Fund, involved the writing of four booklets, 
each looking at a different aspect of life in Laxton at 
that time. The booklets were published in June 2016.

We found ourselves, however, in the unusual 
position of completing the aims of the project with 
funding to spare. We had moreover uncovered a 
tremendous amount of information which had still to 
be shared with a wider audience. An extension to the 
duration of our project has enabled us to write three 
more booklets which will further examine life in the 
village and its relationship with the Thoresby Estate 
at the turn of the twentieth century. 

The booklets are a collaborative effort by Group 
members. They examine the lives of villagers and 
share some of their stories, shedding light on the 
times in which they lived and the difficulties they 
faced. The letters between the tenants and the Estate 
are the major source of the stories. 
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For the most part the tenants corresponded with 
the Estate out of need or necessity, so the letters 
reveal very little by way of good news, but they 
certainly paint a vivid picture of a very different age 
which was not so very long ago. 

We owe a debt of gratitude to the trustees of 
the Manvers Estate for their foresight in depositing 
their collected Estate papers at the University of 
Nottingham and so providing us with such a wonderful 
resource from which to learn.
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THE VILLAGE 
LANDSCAPE, WITH 
ITS HISTORIC LAYOUT 
AND INTERESTING 
BUILDINGS, PROVIDED 
THE CONTEXT FOR 
THE ACTIVITIES 
OF THE VILLAGERS 
WHO LIVED AND 
WORKED IN LAXTON 
AT THE TURN OF THE 
TWENTIETH CENTURY
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THE VILLAGE 
LANDSCAPE

The history of Laxton is embedded in its layout 
and in its historically interesting buildings. Our study 
of the correspondence which took place in the first 
twenty years of the twentieth century between the 
tenants of the Thoresby Estate and its Agents led 
to the discovery of further details about the village 
buildings and the people who lived in them and  
used them. 

In the period of our study from 1900 to 1920 the 
village of Laxton looked very much as it does today, 
built on some of the highest land in Nottinghamshire 
and surrounded by its open fields. The layout of the 
village, it is now generally accepted, was set out in 
medieval times and the original tofts were part of 
a planned village, perhaps developed at the same 
time as the construction of the castle. Many of the 
regularly laid out plots, running alongside and at right 
angles to the road which runs through the village, can 
be identified in Mark Pierce’s 1635 map. Indeed many 
of them are still in place today. 
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12 A Snapshot In Time | Village Buildings

The High Street follows the line of what it is 
believed was the regularly laid out North Row of the 
medieval village. 

After Cross Hill, where there is a small green, North 
Row continued on up The Bar. In the late nineteenth 
century and at the turn of the twentieth century The 
Bar was still a gated road.

The other branch of the main road which runs 
through the village, now called Main Street, continues 
down the hill to Bottom Farm, where it divides again, 
one lane leading to the southernmost part of the 
village, Moorend. This road was also gated near to 
where the entrance to South Field is today.

Along Meadow End in South Field a green lane 
called Clay Lane was the road to the small hamlet of 
Moorhouse during the period we studied. Clay Lane 
runs from South Field, passing between Copthorne 
Farm and Primrose Farm and then continues on to 
Moorhouse.

This village landscape with its historic layout and 
interesting buildings provided the context for the 
activities of the villagers who lived and worked in 
Laxton at the turn of the twentieth century.

Pictured

Laxton, 2016
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A Snapshot In Time | Laxton History Group 13

SOCIAL BUILDINGS, UTILITY BUILDINGS 
AND DOMESTIC BUILDINGS

 As well as serving a particular purpose in the  
village certain buildings in the period we are concerned 
with were hubs of social activity, notably the church, 
the school and the Dovecote Inn. 

Other buildings such as the smithy, the Post 
Office, the shops, the mill and the Parish Rooms 
were all utility buildings, either built for or adapted for 
specific purposes. Their very existence at that time 
and the uses they were put to tell us a great deal 
about the activities of the villagers and the services 
they needed at hand in the time when horses were 
still the main means of transport.

The domestic buildings, farm houses and 
cottages, reveal a good deal about the economic 
state of the village itself. The type, size and upkeep of 
the property says much about the social hierarchy in 

Pictured

The Bar - from 
Queenie Sampson’s 
embroidery c.1925
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14 A Snapshot In Time | Village Buildings

the village. The correspondence about repairs to the 
buildings between the Estate Agents and the tenants 
reflects the social attitudes of the day and adds detail 
to the stories of the lives of the villagers in Laxton 
during the period of our study. 

We have chosen to write about particular 
buildings as examples of their type or because the 
correspondence about them highlights a particular 
aspect of village life.

AN OVERVIEW OF THE 
VILLAGE, 1900 – 1920

An overview of the village from Laxton Common 
to Moorhouse will paint a general picture of the 
village at the turn of the century. In later chapters we 
will examine some of the buildings in greater detail to 
give a fuller picture of Laxton at the time.

 The Church of St. Michael and All Angels is a 
Grade 1 listed building and there are eleven further 
properties which are Grade 2 listed in Laxton, and 
in Moorhouse Church Farm is Grade 2 listed, (see 
Appendix 2). This gives some indication of the 
historical interest of our buildings.

 In 1900 a visitor approaching Laxton village 
from Ollerton would pass through the gorse bushes 
and scrub land along the narrow gated road which 
crossed Laxton Common. The gorse which grew 
there must have given only poor shelter to the sheep 
and cattle which grazed on the tough, coarse pasture 
of what was still common land. 

Following the road into the village and passing by 
Mill Field the visitor might glimpse the wooden post 
mill with its four sails turning in the wind.
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LAXTON MILL

Already by 1900 Laxton Mill would have been 
considered old fashioned, after all Tuxford had no 
fewer than three working tower mills and growing 
mechanization was on the horizon. 

The farmers of Laxton, always slow to discard old 
machinery whilst it still worked, or to abandon old 
buildings whilst they still stood, continued to make 
use of the post mill. The design for post mills first came 
to Britain with the Normans. 

The wooden body of the mill, 
built to contain the machinery 
which ground the grain and 
also used as a grain store, was 
mounted on a large vertical post, 
so that it could be pivoted round 
to allow the sails to catch the 
wind. Laxton mill had a fantail, a 
small windmill mounted at right 
angles to the sails, which ran on 
rails around the mill. It enabled 
the miller to ensure that the “buck”, (the body of the 
mill), was facing the wind when the mill was in use. 
It also had an efficient braking system, as it was only 
too easy for the fantail to drive the mill far too quickly 
which could bring the whole structure down. 

Graham Laughton, great grandson of James 
Laughton, the miller, remembers being told that 
‘Hollanders’, a Dutch firm, were employed to maintain 
the mill, and that the upkeep of the mill was a twenty 
four hour job, really hard, strenuous and skilled work.

 The mill was ideally placed at the top of the 
village on the high ground in Mill Field, where the wind 
sweeps across the Open Field. James Laughton, lived 
in High Street next door to what is now Lilac Farm. 

THE DESIGN 
FOR POST MILLS 
FIRST CAME TO 
BRITAIN WITH 
THE NORMANS
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According to the Inland Revenue return of 1910, it 
was known as ‘Top Place’, though latterly it came to 
be called ‘Millers House.’ He and Mary, his wife, had 
13 children in total, though one child died young and 
two sons were lost in the First World War. James at 
fifty three years old in 1900 was fortunate in having 
the help of his grown up sons who were still living 
at home. John, the elder son, worked on the farm, 
George was a horseman on the farm and Samuel 
worked the mill. 

James and Samuel milled the flour for the farmers’ 
wives to make their bread in the big brick bread ovens 
which were a feature of the farm houses in Laxton. 
The farmers’ wives not only made their own bread, 

Pictured

Laxton Mill, painted by 
Graham Laughton, great 
grandson of the miller
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they also brewed their own beer. Some of the farms 
had both brew houses and hop yards, though the 
quality of the beer varied from house to house. Still 
today hops can be found growing in the hedgerows, 
escapees and descendants from those long ago hop 
yards.  

 The millers also produced animal feed for the 
farmers. Their job was a skilled craft and was still very 
important to the village at the turn of the twentieth 
century.  But despite the hard work of James and 
his sons mechanisation was threatening the millers’ 
trade and after 1916, when the mill blew down in a 
tremendous gale, it was never replaced.  

The story of the mill is told in greater detail in 
this series of booklets by Mary Haigh in ‘Open Field 
Farming in Laxton’ and by Cynthia Bartle in ‘Living in 
Laxton’.

THE CHURCH OF ST MICHAEL 
AND ALL ANGELS

Leaving the mill and turning the corner into High 
Street our visitor could not help but notice the grey 
stone tower of the Church of St Michael and All 
Angels, as imposing then as it is today, dominating 
the main road which ran through the village.  

Pictured

High Street,  
Town End Junction
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A description of High Street itself by Alice Clark, 
who came to live at Town End Farm in 1913, says 
much about the agricultural work which went on in 
the village and the attitude of the villagers towards 

farming activities, she wrote: 
“The roads for those days were 
good, made of flint stone with grass 
verges on either side.” 

But then she goes on to say 
that as the carts, beasts and 
horses moved about the village 
streets ruts appeared which had 
to be continually repaired. The 
roads were none too clean either; 
mud and animal droppings were 
abundant.

The Manvers family and their 
Agents had to brave the mud 
and muck outside the church as 

they took an active interest in the lives of their estate 
workers and frequently attended village social events 
in both the church and the school.  We will examine 
the affairs of Laxton Church as they are revealed in 
the Manvers’ papers in closer detail in Chapter Two. 

FARM HOUSES AND COTTAGES

 On the corner of High Street and Town End, where 
today a modern house, Westwood House, stands, a 
little group of red brick and pan tile cottages huddled 
together.   

 With few exceptions however the same farm 
houses and cottages lined the wide carriageway 
in much the same way as they do today. By 1900 
many of the houses had been repaired and rebuilt by 
Lord Manvers who was generally regarded as a good 
landlord by the villagers.

THE ROADS FOR 
THOSE DAYS 
WERE GOOD, 
MADE OF FLINT 
STONE WITH 
GRASS VERGES 
ON EITHER SIDE
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A Snapshot In Time | Laxton History Group 19

It is in no small measure 
due to the Thoresby Estate’s 
maintenance of the buildings that 
we can still enjoy and study them 
today, for instance, in High Street, 
Lilac Farm and its farm buildings, 
the barn adjoining Holme View 
Farm and Ivy House Farmhouse 
are now Grade 2 listed buildings.  
Ivy House Farmhouse dates 
from the 17th Century but it was 
refronted and extended in the 18th 
Century.  It is constructed from 
both stone and local red brick and 
currently has a plain tile roof.  The 
main eaves are rebated and there 
is a short length of dentils at the 
back of the house. 

 Lilac Farm dates from 1748, 
though the barn is dated 1760. In 
the period of our study the farm buildings would still 
have been used as a barn, stables and pigeoncote.

The Manvers’ correspondence reveals more detail 
about the state of the farmhouses and cottages which 
we shall examine in Chapter Four.

CRAFTSMEN’S COTTAGES

Near the top of High Street is ‘Blacksmiths Cottage’ 
where Thomas Hilton and Arthur Grundy worked. The 
forge was a vital part of village life; horses were shod 
there, farm tools mended, simple replacement parts 
for machines made. For the farmers in the village 
there was probably no building more useful than 
Thomas Hilton’s workshop.

In Church Cottages a shoemaker and cobbler, 
Sam Moody, worked. The village wheelwright, 

WITH FEW 
EXCEPTIONS 
HOWEVER THE 
SAME FARM 
HOUSES AND 
COTTAGES 
LINED THE WIDE 
CARRIAGEWAY 
IN MUCH THE 
SAME WAY AS 
THEY DO TODAY
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20 A Snapshot In Time | Village Buildings

William Duckmanton, had his workshop and saw pit 
at the bottom of the Twitchill. It is interesting how 
the cottages and outbuildings were adapted by the 
craftsmen as workshops. We are fortunate in still 
today being able to identify their places of work, 
(utility buildings). The table in the Chapter ‘Who Lived 
in My House’ and Cynthia Bartle in ‘Living in Laxton’ 
give details of occupations and houses.

THE SCHOOLS

 Still in High Street, the two 
schools, which had also been 
built by Lord Manvers, stood 
proudly on opposite sides of 
the road, built of red brick and 
pantile, each with one large 
school room which resembled a 
barn.  

In 1860 Lord Manvers had 
spent £483 on a new school and 
school house, which are now 
the village hall and the adjoining 
house. In 1870 and 1871 he 
had an infant school built on 
the opposite side of the road. 
The site, now in private hands, 
has recently been sold. It cost 
him £143 in total. In 1900 Frank 

Willis was the Head Teacher and he served at Laxton 
Parochial Church School until 1922 when he retired. 
The story of the school is told in this series by Joan 
Cottee in ‘The Village Schoolmaster.’

The Senior School, now the Village Hall, is a Grade 
2 listed building, it has splendid Gothic windows.

IN 1860 LORD 
MANVERS HAD 
SPENT £483 ON 
A NEW SCHOOL 
AND SCHOOL 
HOUSE, WHICH 
ARE NOW 
THE VILLAGE 
HALL AND THE 
ADJOINING 
HOUSE
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THE GENERAL STORE

Opposite the church was a general store, the 
main source of household supplies for the village 
housewives before the advent of the motorcar and 
modern supermarkets. 

In 1911 the shop was being 
run by Samuel Laughton and his 
wife, Edith. Samuel had left the 
family milling business in order 
to farm his own place, which he 
rented from the Thoresby Estate, 
and to run the shop. Shopping 
in Laxton will be examined in 
greater detail in Chapter Three.

THE VICARAGE AND 
PARISH ROOMS

 Set back on the opposite 
side of the road the new vicarage 
and the Parish Reading Rooms 
were screened by trees. 

The vicarage, a Grade 2 listed 
building, is a splendid example 
of Victorian architecture, and it 
still remains the only really large 
house in the village. It must have 
been a cause for great wonderment when it was first 
built, putting the incumbent vicars on a completely 
different social footing from most of the villagers.  
It had been built by Lord Manvers to Revd. Martin’s 
design and taste. 

Since he was unmarried and lived alone, served 
only by a married couple, Mr. and Mrs. Parncutt, who 
kept house and garden for him, he must have had 
more than enough room to spare. 

THE VICARAGE, 
A GRADE 2 
LISTED BUILDING, 
IS A SPLENDID 
EXAMPLE OF 
VICTORIAN 
ARCHITECTURE, 
AND IT STILL 
REMAINS THE 
ONLY REALLY 
LARGE HOUSE 
IN THE VILLAGE
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The Parish Rooms built in the vicarage garden 
were used as village reading rooms as well as for the 
evening classes which Frank Willis ran and for school 
treats and other church social occasions. 

The Vicarage is further examined in Chapter Two.

THE DOVECOTE INN

The Dovecote Inn, standing in a prominent position 
at the edge of the village green, served as a place of 
relaxation and entertainment for the village workers. 

It is said that Lady Manvers and Revd. Martin 
pressed for the Dovecote’s Sunday licence to be 
revoked because in summer time, after drinking at 
the Dovecote on their one day off after a week of hard 
labour in the fields, the men of the village lounged on 
the green and catcalled the vicar as he passed on his 
way to and from Moorhouse in order to preach at the 
chapel of ease. We shall learn more of the Dovecote 
in Chapter Three.

THE METHODIST CHAPEL

The Methodists in the village also disapproved of 
alcohol, one area where church and chapel adopted 
the same stance in village politics. The Chapel had 
been built in 1802 as a Congregational Chapel but 
had been taken over by the Primitive Methodists.  By 
1902, as Cynthia Bartle mentions in ‘Living in Laxton’, 
it was already used as a Primitive Methodist Chapel. 
This was probably because the Congregationalist 
membership had dwindled. It was not unusual for one 
sect of Dissenters to sell their superfluous chapels on 
to another more active sect. Primitive Methodism had 
certainly gained in popularity in the area at the time as 
the building of Moorhouse Primitive Chapel shows. 
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A Snapshot In Time | Laxton History Group 23

The Laxton chapel still stands on Chapel Lane but it 
is now a private house.  

THE OLD VICARAGE FARM

Opposite the chapel is the Old Vicarage Farm, 
which was given to Lord Manvers in part exchange 
when he built the new vicarage. This would have 
been the home of Revd. Martin and other former 
vicars before the new vicarage was built. In the Inland 
Revenue Survey, Map and Field Books, of 1910 it is 
recorded as: “a house and homestead near the chapel 
‘Manor Farm’. Good water and Common rights.”

Certainly Revd. Martin, who was related to the 
aristocracy, would have been happier to have called 
his dwelling ‘Manor Farm’ rather than ‘The Old 
Vicarage’ or even ‘Vicarage Farm.’ 

THE PINFOLD

At the crossroads the pinfold lay on the opposite 
side of the road from where it currently stands. By 
1900 the bailiff was in charge of rounding up any stray 

Pictured

Location of the 
Methodist Chapel from 
Queenie Sampson’s 
embroidery
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24 A Snapshot In Time | Village Buildings

animals, the office of pinder having been subsumed 
into the duties of the bailiff. Mary Haigh in ‘Open 
Farming in Laxton’ paints a picture of the pinder’s role 
in the village from 1900 to 1920.

MOORHOUSE PRIMITIVE 
METHODIST CHAPEL

Main Street runs from Cross Hill down to Bottom 
Farm. Then Moorhouse Road leads to South Field 

and Clay Lane which led to 
Moorhouse, a tiny hamlet of 
farms and cottages, without 
either a school or shop, but with 
a little Church of England chapel 
of ease and a tiny Methodist 
chapel. The chapel of ease is 
dealt with in detail Chapter Two.

The little Primitive Methodist 
Chapel is a small building, 
approximately six metres by 
four metres. It is built of local 
red brick and has a pantile roof. 
The wooden pews which faced 
the box pulpit, situated on the 
west wall, seated approximately 
twenty five people. Originally, 
according to the Inland Revenue 
Return of 1910, it had been built 

as a cottage but was converted to a chapel in 1856. 
 The Inland Revenue Survey of 1908 states that 

the chapel was in fair repair and still in use by the 
Primitive Methodists. It still stands today but is now 
used as a stable. 

Margaret W. Saxelby, who was born in Moorhouse, 
and now lives in Betcheners Cottage, tells us that her 

ORIGINALLY, 
ACCORDING 
TO THE INLAND 
REVENUE, THE 
CHAPEL HAD 
BEEN BUILT AS 
A COTTAGE BUT 
WAS CONVERTED 
TO A CHAPEL 
IN 1856
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great grandmother, Hannah Hallam, actually preached 
in the little chapel. Both she and her husband, John 
Thomas Hallam, are listed as lay preachers in the 
1891 census. 

 Margaret and her brother, Ken Saxelby of Church 
Farm, Moorhouse, can remember as children playing 
in the disused chapel and 
pretending to preach from the 
box pulpit. The chains from 
the old parafin lamps were still 
in place in the two elaborate 
ceiling roses which decorated 
the blue and white plaster 
ceiling. 

The chapel had two 
windows at the front and one at 
the rear, a large wooden front 
door which stood between the 
front windows opened directly 
out on to the road.  

At the start of the Great 
War the chapel was in still in 

Pictured

Above: A foundation 
stone from the wall 
of the chapel, now 
in the possession of 
Margaret W. Saxelby

Below: Hannah Hallam, 
Local Preacher, 
1838 to 1906
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